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From: Gail Price 
Sent: Thursday, November 26, 2015 3:15 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission; Tullys, Toni; Wesley Mukoyama;  

Cc: Ulloa, Llolanda
Subject: Please share this with Blue Ribbon Commission and the Behavioral Health Board

Background: There was an editorial in The New York Times- "Treating Mental Illness, From All Angles"  ( 
November 26, 2015).  There are elements of this which, I believe, have direct applicability to provision of 
mental health services in all settings, including jails.   
 
The link for Thrive New York is: https://thrivenyc.cityofnewyork.us 
 
Please share this with my colleagues on the Blue Ribbon Commission, staff and the public.  
 
Thank you,  
Gail Price 
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New York City’s greatness is founded on  
a simple promise: you can thrive here, no 
matter where you come from or where 
you want to go in life.

But for too many New Yorkers, poor 
mental health interrupts the realization of 
that great promise. As City leaders, we are 
obligated to use every tool and power of 
government to make sure there is a path to health and 
happiness for all New Yorkers. For that to be possible,  
we need a true and effective mental health system.

We take a huge step forward on that journey with the release 
of ThriveNYC: A Mental Health Roadmap for All. 

The mental health crisis facing the residents of our city has 
been decades in the making. Mental health issues have not 
been treated by the public or private sectors with the same 
urgency as physical health issues even as illness and other 
threats to mental health affect the lives of nearly every family 
in the five boroughs each year.

Public initiatives to support the mental health of New Yorkers 
have been underfunded by billions. Commercial insurers have 
only been required to provide comparable coverage for mental 
health treatment under all policies since 2010, and they have a 
long way to go in providing full and fair coverage.

This legacy of scarce resources, and scarcer attention,  
has prompted a practical and moral obligation for City 
government to take up this work. We are serious about 
getting New Yorkers the help they need to overcome the 
symptoms of mental illness. But we are also determined to 
prevent mental illness whenever we can, and that means 
doing everything we can to alleviate the severe stresses that 
are at the root of many conditions. 

So while we strive to make sure every 
New Yorker in every community has 
access to a mental health professional, 
we simultaneously need to keep building 
and preserving affordable housing in 
those communities so more families are 
freed from worrying every waking 
moment about whether they’ll be able to 
make rent that month.

As we work to identify and treat new mothers who suffer 
from postpartum depression, we must simultaneously 
provide more working parents with protections like Paid Sick 
Leave, so no one has to choose between their child’s health 
and their job.

And as we build toward a time when all of our schools offer 
mental health services to their children, we also need to make 
sure our kids have essential social emotional supports in 
pre kindergarten and after school programs.

By following the path laid out in this Roadmap, we will 
change the trajectory of the lives of so many New Yorkers, 
and help them become better parents, friends, co workers, 
and students.  

To make this future a reality, we need your help. If your life 
has been touched by mental illness, please share your story 
with someone you trust. And if someone you know is going 
through a tough time, take a moment to hear them out. There 
are now more and better resources that are easier for New 
Yorkers to access. A crisis decades in the making won’t be 
resolved overnight, but ThriveNYC is the first step in our 
mission to help our citizens fulfill their potential.

As the First Lady says, there is no health without mental 
health. Let’s get healthy together. 

Mayor Bill de Blasio
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In January 2015, I had the honor of announcing an unprecedented commitment  
by the City of New York to create a mental health system that works for all  
New Yorkers. Since then, I have traveled throughout the five boroughs and talked  
to hundreds of people about their experiences. 

I heard many stories of triumph that reminded me of a fundamental truth: Mental 
illness is treatable. When people have access to the resources they need, they can 
live their lives to the fullest. 

I also heard many stories of suffering, which speaks to another reality: Every family 
has been touched by mental illness. And that certainly includes my own.

A few years ago, our daughter, Chiara, revealed that she was suffering from 
addiction, depression, and anxiety. I felt everything you’d expect a mother to feel: 
love, sadness, fear, and a whole lot of uncertainty. But I didn’t know where to turn. 
There was no established series of steps for us to refer to. Bill and I had to trust the 
recommendations of people we didn’t really know, and make some major decisions 
based on faith alone.

In the end, we found enough of what we were looking for. But even after our crisis 
subsided, we couldn’t forget everything we’d been through. Why had it been so 
difficult to find the right help? And what can we do for the many New York City 
families who don’t have access to as many resources as we did? 

ThriveNYC: A Mental Health Roadmap for All begins to answer those questions, 
and many others. Now, finally, New York City has a plan of action to encourage the 
mental well being of all New Yorkers and begin helping those who have been 
falling through the cracks. I am grateful to everyone who helped make this 
Roadmap possible, especially our world class Department of Health and Mental 
Hygiene; Executive Deputy Commissioner for Mental Hygiene, Dr. Gary Belkin; 
and Commissioner Dr. Mary T. Bassett. 

We will work with our partners to create new programs, make existing programs 
even better, and make all programs easier to access. With each success, as people 
find solutions, we will move one step closer to changing our mindset around the 
mind and building a culture that values and supports mental health. 

I still remember when people were afraid to say “breast” and “cancer” out loud.  
I still remember when that disease was only discussed between sisters and girlfriends 
in stolen whispers. Thankfully, that has changed. Today, breast cancer survivors are 
proud to tell their stories, because they know the community has their back.

It’s time to do the same when it comes to treating mental illness and promoting 
mental health. The work won’t be easy or fast. But if we follow the guideposts laid 
out in the Roadmap, we can create a city where it’s as easy to get help for anxiety as it 
is to get a flu shot a city where every New Yorker can live with dignity.

First Lady Chirlane I. McCray



      

Executive 
Summary
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Clearly, mental illness isn’t just disrupting the lives of individual New 
Yorkers—it is exacting a terrible social, financial, and emotional cost  
on our city. 

What is needed—and what New York City currently lacks—is a major 
commitment to mental health, one that is backed up by resources that are 
commensurate to the challenge. Tackling a problem that directly affects 
20% of New Yorkers—in addition to all of the people in their lives—
requires a population-wide response.  

And to be successful, that response must assertively support and promote 
mental health in addition to addressing mental illness. The World Health 
Organization defines mental health as “a state of well-being in which 
every individual realizes his or her own potential, can cope with the 
normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able  
to make a contribution to her or his community.”12 In other words, our 
ability to thrive—as human beings and as a city—is closely tied to our 
mental health.

At the most basic level, this new commitment is about thinking big and 
thinking differently. A public health solution must include all the following 
elements: prevention of illness, promotion of mental health, early detection 
of problems, and treatment. By themselves, mental health professionals 
cannot stem the tide of one of our society’s most difficult and pervasive 
health challenges. To achieve lasting success, we must treat not only the 
individual, but also the conditions in our society that threaten mental health. 
We must identify when people are at greater risk and why, while paying 
close attention to the range of factors—both individual and social—that 
can either make us more vulnerable or prevent the onset or worsening 
of mental illness.13

Getting to where we need to go requires a broad campaign that engages 
every sector of society. Lawmakers must devote political capital and 
financial resources to the challenge at hand. Government agencies must 
implement new policies. The media must be engaged in the work of 

For so long, our city has not done enough to support the emotional well-
being of its residents. Too many New Yorkers have not gotten the help they 
needed for any number of reasons. Perhaps they were afraid to reveal their 
pain, the help they needed was hard to access, they couldn’t find someone 
who understood their culture, they didn’t think it would help, or they simply 
couldn’t afford it. All told, 41% of adult New Yorkers with a serious mental 
illness (SMI)10 said they needed treatment at some point in the past year but 
did not receive it or delayed getting it.11  
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increasing public awareness and accurately representing mental illness. 
Health professionals must use techniques that promote mental health and 
more effectively prevent, as well as treat, illness. And crucially, New 
Yorkers from every community must play an active role in both shaping 
and implementing this effort.

As an example, consider New York City’s successful effort to curb smoking. 
For decades, Americans settled for incremental change when it came to 
the fight against tobacco. In New York City, the decline in adult smoking 
had stalled. Then, in 2003, the City’s landmark Smoke-Free Air Act went 
into effect, banning smoking in bars and restaurants. This signaled the 
beginning of a sweeping public health campaign. City officials coordinated 
an anti-smoking communications strategy that blanketed our airwaves, 
newspapers, and subway cars. Lawmakers raised federal, state, and local 
excise taxes. And health officials developed innovative ways to provide 
New Yorkers with treatment tools, such as inviting people to call  
311 and request free nicotine patches. We monitored our progress and 
stayed on track with help from an annual survey that tracked how many 
people smoked.

Together, these efforts achieved tremendous results. The adult smoking 
rate declined by 35% between 2002 and 2014,14 and the youth smoking rate 
fell by a stunning 53% from 2001 to 2013.15 It is estimated that nearly 
50,000 adult New Yorkers who quit smoking as a result of tobacco control 
efforts from 2002-2010 will avoid a premature smoking-related death 
before the age of 75.16 These successes were reached decades after learning 
of the harms of smoking. Public health strategies take time to learn what 
will lead to population-level improvements in health. The same will be 
true for making an impact on mental health. This Roadmap identifies the 
key new directions needed to do so, and a robust but initial set of 
initiatives to move in that direction.

Smoking is just one example of a successful public health campaign that 
changed the lives of tens of thousands of New Yorkers; there are many 
others. Together, we reduced teen pregnancy to record lows.17 Between 
2000 and 2013, we reduced the annual number of mother-to-child HIV 
transmissions by 92%.18 And within the last decade, we reduced the 
number of children with dangerous levels of lead in their blood by 70%.19

We can and should have equally big ambitions and long-term strategies 
when it comes to mental health. Together, over years, we can lay the 
foundation for lifelong emotional health for all children. We can protect 
new mothers from depression. We can prevent suicides and reduce 
harmful consequences of substance misuse. We can close gaps in access  
to mental health services. We can help more people with chronic and 
disabling mental illness lead active lives. We can provide people who have 
previously cycled in and out of the system with the comprehensive and 
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compassionate network of care they need. We can make it our goal to not 
only reduce the toll of mental illness, but also promote mental health and 
protect New Yorkers’ resiliency, self-esteem, family strength, and joy. 

Our plan for achieving these goals and many others is described in this 
Roadmap, which lays out:

•	 The challenges we face;

•	 The principles that will guide our effort to meet those challenges;

•	 A broad array of solutions that build upon our principles; and

•	 A plan to achieve long-term change.  

Our work will be shaped by six guiding principles. They are based on 
research, the experience of other cities and countries, input from hundreds 
of local organizations that are working to promote mental health, and 
individual New Yorkers with experience battling mental illness who bravely 
shared their stories with us.

We will advance these principles in part through 54 targeted initiatives—
representing an investment of $850 million over four years—that together 
comprise an entirely new and more holistic approach to mental health in 
New York City, and set a foundation for taking on this public health 
challenge in the years ahead.
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Section 1

One metric frequently used to describe the impact of mental illness on 
society relative to other health problems is Disability Adjusted Life-Years 
(DALYs), which measures the number of years lost to a given disease as a 
result of loss of life (YLL) or disability (YLD). Together, these are often 
referred to as the “disease burden.” 

The figure shows that mental illness and substance use disorders are among 
the leading contributors to the disease burden for New Yorkers, with 
depressive illness the single largest contributor after heart disease.26 If the 
impact of alcohol use disorders and other substance use disorders are 
added together (they are separated in this figure), they would be the 
second leading contributor to overall disease burden in New York City.

Disability related to mental illness can have significant real-life 
consequences for New Yorkers. It can lead to job loss, dropping out of 
school, struggles with parenting, losing one’s housing, having difficulty 
making and keeping friends, and other challenges.

But DALYs only show a part of the impact. They do not capture the wide 
variety of related health problems that often afflict people with mental 
illness, and therefore underestimate the full extent of their suffering. A 
few additional statistics make this clear:

•	 In the U.S., the average life expectancy of people with a mental illness is 
approximately eight years less than people without one.27 Many people 
with mental illness or substance use disorders experience a substantial 
gap in the quality of routine medical care, especially when it comes to 
general medical and cardiovascular care.28 

•	 Experiencing a period of mental illness increases a person’s likelihood 
of developing a physical illness, including diabetes, hypertension, and 
high cholesterol.29,30,31,32

•	 Adults in NYC with SMI are three times more likely to smoke, and they 
are less likely to exercise or eat fruits or vegetables. It is therefore not 
surprising that they are twice as likely to have two or more chronic 
medical illnesses when compared to adults without an SMI.33

•	 In the U.S., prolonged depression can more than double the risk of 
stroke in people over 50 years of age.34 

In other words,  
DALYs quantify what makes 
us feel sick and what kills us.  
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Risks to mental health affect New 
Yorkers at every stage of their lives
Mental illness or distress can occur at any point during our lives. But there 
are certain stages that present greater risks to mental health—and also a 
greater opportunity to intervene with effective support that could provide 
the tools to achieve long-term mental wellness. 

Early years
The first few years of life play a profound role in a person’s ability to manage 
emotions in a healthy way. Childhood exposure to adverse events—such as 
domestic violence, neglect, abuse, family financial strain and divorce, or 
certain community conditions such as unsafe neighborhoods—are all 
associated with chronic diseases and threats to mental health in adulthood.40,41

These circumstances can also contribute to toxic stress, which is the 
strong, unrelieved activation of the body’s stress management system 
in the absence of protective support. Toxic stress can change the 
architecture of the developing brain and have a devastating lifelong 
impact.42 For example:

•	 Adolescents exposed to childhood adversity, including family 
malfunctioning, abuse, neglect, violence, and economic adversity, are nearly 
 
  
 
and the risk to their mental health grows with additional exposures.43

•	 Even neighborhood violence that a child does not directly experience, such 
as a nearby homicide, has been shown to reduce cognitive performance.44 

•	 Experiencing two or more adverse events during childhood is associated 
with a two- to eight-fold increase in depression, anxiety, and tobacco and 
marijuana use.45 

•	 Early identification of developmental delays and disabilities in young 
children through timely screening can reduce the risk for depression, 
anxiety, and overall psychological distress.46

Tragically, far too many young New Yorkers are at risk for poor mental 
health. A 2011-2012 survey found that approximately 18% of children in 
New York State between the ages of zero and 17 experienced two or more 
adverse family experiences in their lifetime, which predicts poor mental 
health and physical health outcomes later in life.47 In order to help these 
children, we need to do a better job of assessing them for mental health 
risks when they have contact with City agencies or the health system and 
then connecting them to appropriate resources. 

2x as likely to experience the 
onset of mental disorders,
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Consider Medicaid spending on mental health in New York City (see 
figure). Medicaid is the source of health insurance for approximately 3 
million New Yorkers. In 2013, the overall health costs for people with a 
mental illness or substance use-related diagnosis were more than three 
times the cost for people without these diagnoses. 

Individuals with any mental illness diagnosis or indication of substance 
misuse experience three times the number of emergency room visits for 
physical health care issues, and six times the number of medical inpatient 
hospital days compared to people without those conditions.102 These overall 
patterns hold for other sources of insurance as well.103 And other data 
suggests that older patients with symptoms of depression have roughly 50% 
higher overall health care costs than non-depressed seniors.104,105  

Although high-cost mental health and medical care services clearly fuel 
each other, they are generally not well coordinated or well integrated.  
This serves to further escalate costs. It’s not just that hospitalization is 
expensive—it is also ineffective if not followed by regular, ongoing 
outpatient treatment in the community. Yet in the first six months of 2014, 
only about one in three people who completed a psychiatric hospitalization 
in New York City were successfully linked to follow-up outpatient treatment 
within 30 days of leaving the hospital.106

This illustrates a fundamental problem: Despite the substantial 
resources we invest and spend on mental health, the treatment 
system falls short on results. A big reason for this failure is the fact 
that care is often not evidence-based, in two key ways:

•	 The treatment often doesn’t fit the need. Too often, we connect 
people to resources and treatment that do not get to the heart of the 
problem. For example, a disproportionate share of Medicaid dollars is 
devoted to families with complex needs that are affected by poverty, 
abuse, neglect, and mental health challenges. While children in these 
families who suffer from mental illness may receive treatment or support 
services, the services typically focus on the child and fail to use more 
specialized approaches that address the family as a whole.107 On the other 
hand, specialized treatment options are often used where lighter touches, 
such as support groups or self-care, would be more effective instead. 

•	 Much of the care is not delivered optimally. Examples of this abound:

•	 Approximately half of all treatment for major depressive illness in 
the U.S. does not follow expert-recommended best practices.108,109,110

•	 Almost three-quarters of youth insured by Medicaid who receive 
antipsychotics were prescribed these drugs “off-label”, that is, for 
conditions not approved by the Food and Drug Administration. 
While off-label use is common and not illegal, the use of these 
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Section 1

medications for children in the absence of firm evidence of their 
efficacy has garnered significant concern and scrutiny.111

•	 A recent national study suggests that increased access to mental 
health treatment for youth over the last decade may contribute to the 
overuse of anti-depressant and stimulant medications.112 

It is important to decrease inequities in access to proven effective 
medications that alleviate suffering in many people with mental illness. 
We must also guard against inappropriate prescribing of medications, and 
encourage the use of other treatment options when appropriate. 

The challenge before us is restructuring the way we deliver care.  
We need to create more “upstream” prevention options while using 
“downstream” treatment options more wisely. 

We need more information to be effective

Despite the many data points included in this section, we still have many 
questions about where and how mental health threats take root, how to 
better match what we are doing with where we can make the biggest 
impact, and the comparative value and quality of treatment and 
intervention options. 

We should rethink traditional methods for gathering information about 
mental health.113 This could include partnering with local providers and 
community groups to both gather and use information and web-based 
crowdsourcing methods.  

We should also strive to measure mental health itself through the use of 
sound data and effective measuring tools. Some countries, including the 
United Kingdom, are beginning to measure “well-being” and the positive 
attributes of mental health.114 Similarly, it would be useful to capture not 
just neighborhood effects that pose threats to mental health, but also 
positive attributes that contribute to the resiliency of individuals and 
communities. If we know where mental health assets are located, we can 
do a better job of maximizing them. And if we have better data about 
crucial factors like user experience, access, impact, and cost 
effectiveness, we can make better decisions and smarter investments.
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Just as these principles were developed collectively, they 
must be implemented collectively. This Roadmap is an 
invitation for all New Yorkers to work with us to improve 
mental health in our city.

This section describes each of the six principles. At the broadest level, the 
principles have the potential to align how providers treat mental illness, 
what insurers pay for, how philanthropic foundations foster innovation, 
how educational institutions train the next generation of providers and 
decision-makers, how policy is developed, and how communities 
coordinate all of these elements. At the individual level, these principles 
can transform how we think about mental health, the type of mental health 
treatment we receive, and the investments we make in prevention. 

54 targeted initiatives 
City government must play a central and active role in promoting mental 
health for New Yorkers. That means bringing services into City-run 
locations like schools, senior centers, and criminal justice institutions. It 
also means taking advantage of our scale as a city to advocate for changes 
at the state and federal level that reflect and support the wisdom and 
experience of our partners. In Fiscal Year (FY) 2015, the City’s budget 
funded $1.46 billion in mental health spending. In addition, NYC Health + 
Hospitals spent nearly $1 billion to provide mental health services. 
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Early diagnosis and linkages to care for 
vulnerable populations
Prompt recognition of the warning signs for a first episode of psychosis,126,127 
mood disorder,128 and other illnesses can reduce their severity or odds of 
recurrence. Yet on average, treatment begins late, as much as a decade after 
the first symptoms appear.129 Greater investment in prevention and early 
detection is essential. Greater vulnerability to poor mental health outcomes 
can be signaled by high absenteeism from school, violent behavior, or 
experiencing violence or bullying; recent unemployment; harmful patterns 
of substance use; living in areas with high unemployment or violence; any 
experience of trauma; early psychosis; and social isolation, which afflicts 
many elderly people. 

We must increase the availability of screening and early support that 
promotes mental health, especially among those with heightened risks.  
Positive change is possible when City government and our partners 
commit to launching initiatives that have been proven to work.  

 ACT EARLY INITIATIVES

1) Social-Emotional Learning in Early Care and Education 
—NEW! (DOE, ACS, DOHMH)

The City will embark on an expansion of Social Emotional 
Learning (SEL) to all Pre K for All classrooms and ACS 
EarlyLearn Centers. We will increase opportunities for 
children to realize their potential by building a foundation of 
social emotional skills during a critical stage of development.

Early childhood is a unique window of opportunity for social-emotional 
learning and growth; 85% of brain growth in children occurs by the age of 
five.130, 131 By building adults’ capacity to support children’s social and 
emotional development early on, children will be better equipped to handle 
various circumstances and seize opportunities throughout their lives.

Over the next three years, the City will train approximately 9,000 teachers, 
assistants and school leaders to support social-emotional competencies in 
the approximately 100,000 children ages birth-five. Children will get more 
support to be aware of and comfortable with their own emotions, including 
how to self-regulate and how to adapt to new situations. Challenging 
behaviors decrease and social skills improve when children develop a 
positive sense of self and understand their own emotions, handle conflicts, 
and develop relationships with others.132 Parents and caregivers will learn 
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and behavioral needs of students. This effort will be modeled after the 
expansion of mental health services in Community Schools (see below).

3) Create Network of Mental Health Consultants Serving 
All Schools—NEW! (DOHMH, DOE)

While different schools have different levels of need when it comes to 
mental health, every school should have access to professional support. 
Starting immediately, the City will hire 100 School Mental Health 
Consultants (SMHCs) who will work with every school citywide to ensure 
that staff and administrators have an outlet to connect students with the 
highest immediate needs to care. 

The SMHCs will be Masters-level social workers or counselors. They will be 
charged with providing the following services:

•	 Conduct needs assessments that allow schools to identify priority areas 
and determine 1) how to best leverage existing resources from DOE, 
DOHMH, and other city partners; and 2) what additional resources are 
needed to support the mental health of their students;  

•	 Provide support, training, and technical assistance so schools can 
successfully plan and implement new or enhanced programs and 
services—from using prevention and promotion methods that address 
many students at once to getting direct care to individual students  
in need; and

•	 Facilitate emergency response and linkages by forging connections with 
existing DOE resources and community-based partners. The SMHCs will 
also provide school support staff with guidance on clinical assessment 
and referral protocols to ensure appropriate and timely referrals to 
services and minimize emergency room visits.

4) Mental Health Training for School Staff—NEW!  
(DOHMH, DOE)

When it comes to safeguarding the mental health of our students, our 
teachers and school staff have an unmatched level of trust and credibility in 
the eyes of both students and parents. In support of this Roadmap, we are 
launching three new mental health training efforts: 

•	 Train selected staff of middle and high schools in Youth Mental Health 
First Aid (YMHFA), a five-step action plan for assessing, identifying, and 
offering assistance for youth 12-18 years old in crisis; 

•	 Train the school staff in Youth Suicide Prevention using an evidence-
based suicide prevention model called Making Education Partners 
(MEP) that focuses on all school staff in suicide awareness and 
identification; and
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•	 Offer At-Risk Training to all full-time staff of 
elementary, middle, and high schools. At-Risk Training 
is an online training that uses interactive online role 
play to educate teachers on how to recognize early 
signs and symptoms of psychological distress and 
connect students to resources within school setting. 

5) Mental Health Services in All 
Community Schools (DOHMH, DOE)

Community Schools are neighborhood hubs where 
students receive high-quality academic instruction, 
families can access social services, and communities 
congregate to share resources and address their common 
challenges. In order to establish Community Schools as a 
trusted place where students can go for a wide variety 
of essential services, all 130 schools will offer mental 
health services. 

Additionally, the City will open Mental Health Clinics 
at a number of Community Schools following an 
evaluation of student needs and available space in the 
buildings. This expansion will follow a model that uses 
mental health staff to not only treat individuals, but 
also to help the entire school staff play a role in 
providing more preventive interventions. This could 
include training staff to better identify and support 
at-risk students, de-escalate conflicts, or lead 
mindfulness and relaxation groups. Engaging more 
school leaders in the effort to carry out mental health 
promotion will ultimately help improve overall school 
climate. This model can then be shared with other 
schools across the city.

6) “Talk to Your Baby, Their Brain Depends 
On It” Campaign (NYC Children’s Cabinet, DOHMH)

“Talk To Your Baby, Their Brain Depends On It” is a 
major public awareness campaign that urges parents to 
talk, read, and sign to their babies from birth. Former 
Secretary of State Hillary Rodham Clinton, First Lady 
Chirlane McCray, and Deputy Mayor Richard Buery 
announced the initiative in April 2015. It is a 
collaboration between the New York City Children’s 
Cabinet and Too Small to Fail, which is a joint initiative 
of the Bill, Hillary & Chelsea Clinton Foundation and 
Next Generation aimed at helping parents, communities, 

and businesses take meaningful actions to improve the 
health and well-being of children ages zero to three.

The initiative promotes parent bonding and early brain 
development among children ages zero to three. As First 
Lady McCray said, “When we talk, read, and sing to our 
babies, we are building their brains and strengthening 
their bond with us.” The initiative includes:

•	 Subway advertisements;

•	 Weekly text messages to the parents and caregivers of 
young children featuring coaching tips and information 
on language development, attachment-encouraging 
behavior, and socio-emotional health; and

•	 200,000 Baby Book Bundles, to be distributed over 
the next two years to families with children ages 
zero to three through City agencies and the Reach 
Out and Read program. This is made possible by a 
$1.5 million book donation from Scholastic Inc.

7) Expansion of Newborn Home Visiting 
Program (DOHMH)

The Newborn Home Visiting Program (NHVP) is 
expanding services to 1,600 additional mothers of 
newborns in all family shelters across New York City. 
An enhanced model is currently in development to 
meet the particular needs of families in shelters. 
NHVP supports the families of newborns in the first 
few weeks after birth. A public health professional 
makes an in-person visit and provides educational 
information and materials on a range of topics, 
including child development, secure attachment and 
bonding, safe sleep practices, and breastfeeding. The 
professional also connects families to community 
resources and can screen mothers for depression.

8) Mental Health Service Coordination in 
All Contracted Family Shelters (DHS)

The City will place Licensed Clinical Social Workers as 
client care coordinators in all 72 contracted Family 
Shelters. This initiative will provide 8,900 families with 
access to clinical mental health services, allowing them to 
access care at an especially vulnerable time in their lives. 
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9) Attachment and Biobehavioral Catch-up (ACS) 

Attachment and Biobehavioral Catch-up (ABC) is an attachment-focused, strengths-
based therapeutic model that helps foster parents, birth parents, and other primary 
caregivers more effectively nurture and engage children between the ages of six months 
and three years. Weekly one-hour sessions are held in the home for 10 weeks and are 
facilitated by parent coaches who provide caregivers with “in the moment” guidance 
that is supported by video feedback. Coaches help primary caregivers provide a 
responsive and nurturing environment for their infant. The model has been shown to 
ameliorate the impact of trauma on very young children by helping them build strong 
attachments with caregivers and strengthen their ability to self-regulate and self-calm 
during times of stress. 

The program will launch in Brownsville and East New York before expanding to 
high-need neighborhoods in all five boroughs. We eventually expect the initiative to 
include 47 coaches serving 1,800 child-caregiver pairs each year.

10) Trauma Services for Families with Young Children (ACS)

ACS’s new trauma-focused services initiative will create clinically enhanced, community-
based services that provide specialized counseling and other interventions to support 
mothers (and in some cases fathers) with very young children. The model will include 
clinical supports and wraparound services for parents who have themselves experienced 
trauma and depression. The initiative will serve at least 480 families per year.

11) Relationship Counseling for All Foster Care Teens (OCDV, ACS)

The City will provide healthy relationship training to all New York City teens in foster 
care in order to help young people prevent, recognize, and respond to dating violence. 
This investment will provide 5,000 youth between the ages of 11 and 21 with healthy 
relationship training at 300 workshops annually. The training offers interactive 
workshops on dating violence and cyber abuse for adolescents, young adults, parents, 
and service providers. Workshops are facilitated by trained peer educators who 
encourage discussion and critical thinking.

12) Training on Intimate Partner Violence and Teen Dating Violence 
for Community School Staff (OCDV, DOE)

The City is training staff at all 130 Community Schools on how to help students and 
families experiencing intimate partner violence or teen dating violence. Staff will 
learn how to connect people to our NYC Family Justice Center and NYC Healthy 
Relationship Training Academy.
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phone calls, or web-based counseling can help new mothers cope with 
emotional challenges. Research suggests that if New York City applied 
certain prevention interventions, nearly 3,000 fewer women would suffer 
from post-partum depression each year.147 

	 If New York City teachers were given the training and support they need 
to deliver tools such as the Good Behavior Game, a classroom activity 
that promotes impulse control and social and emotional growth, we could 
halve the likelihood of children having suicidal thoughts when they reach 
adolescence.148 Early impulse control is a powerful predictor of lifetime 
mental health. People with the ability to regulate their emotions tend to 
have better long-term physical and mental health.

•	 Studies have shown that adolescent boys with a history of school 
absenteeism or fighting who engage in school-delivered skill groups based 
on principles of cognitive behavioral treatment (CBT)—where they learn to 
anticipate consequences and rehearse behavior—show less risk for violence 
and arrests.149,150 CBT is a short-term, goal-focused approach to helping 
people become aware of patterns of thinking. 

•	 When it comes to preventing suicide, we must change public policies 
around issues like gun access while creating reliable treatment pathways 
that address mental health conditions and other risk behaviors such as 
alcohol use.151 Zero Suicide152 is a national campaign founded on evidence 
that the health and behavioral health systems are a key resource when 
it comes to suicide prevention. Their efforts focus on strengthening and 
expanding established care pathways.153

	 In Los Angeles, Community Partners in Care (CPIC) connected beauty 
shops, parks, fitness centers, faith-based organizations, and local non-
profits in a task-sharing effort designed to improve depression outcomes. 
CPIC held more than 100 conferences and trainings that provided 
neighborhood residents with the tools and knowledge they needed to serve 
as community health workers. As trusted members of the community, these 
workers were well equipped to bring and keep people in care. By deeply 
embedding treatment and mental health promotion within established 
social and community networks, CPIC has succeeded not only in reducing 
depression, but also in lowering both the risks of homelessness as well as 
rates of hospitalizations for behavioral health conditions.154, 155  

•	 Closing “treatment” gaps should include expanding harm reduction 
services, which substantially reduce the negative health consequences of 
potentially risky behaviors. For example, syringe exchange programs can 
reduce HIV transmission in injection drug users, provide individuals with 
valuable health-promoting and overdose-prevention services, and increase 
the likelihood of entry into treatment for substance use disorders.156
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CLOSE TREATMENT GAPS INITIATIVES
1) Close Gaps on Maternal Depression—NEW!  
(NYC Health + Hospitals, DOHMH)

Depression in mothers during and immediately following pregnancy is 
common and sometimes has a negative impact on both infant health and 
the mother’s lifelong mental health. All told, there are well over 10,000 
cases of maternal depression each year in New York City. Studies suggest 
that the majority of women do not get treatment for maternal depression, 
with blacks and Latinas having a lower likelihood of starting and  
continuing treatment.169, 170

This is unacceptable. Our goal is to ensure that every New York City 
mother who experiences depression before or after the birth of her child 
be screened and connected to treatment when appropriate. 

As the first step toward this goal, NYC Health + Hospitals and Maimonides 
Medical Center —which on average deliver almost one-quarter of all births 
in New York City—have committed to universal screening and treatment for 
this condition within two years. They will reach and treat every pregnant 
and post-partum woman in their care who experiences maternal depression. 
This effort will be aided by a recent policy announcement: As of October 
2015, New York State Medicaid reimburses physicians for screening mothers 
for maternal depression.  

NYC Health + Hospitals and Maimonides, along with Greater New York 
Hospital Association, will also lead a citywide effort to work with other 
hospital systems across New York City to adopt the goal of universal 
screening and care for women experiencing maternal depression.  
Participating hospitals will work together to implement evidence-based 
practices and operational strategies that enhance system workflow, optimize 
care transitions, and promote better outcomes for mothers and infants.

2) NYC Support—NEW! (DOHMH)

People throughout New York City often complain about being forced to 
navigate a confusing and unresponsive mental health and substance use 
treatment system largely on their own. For the last few decades, one of the 
City’s primary tools for addressing this concern has been a 24/7 phone-
based crisis center. But New Yorkers need more than access to behavioral 
health services when in crisis—they also need a clear path to care before a 
crisis occurs. 

By September 2016, the City will rise to this challenge with the creation of 
NYC Support, a more robust and accessible system that will serve as an 
easy point of entry to the City’s behavioral health services. The City is 
stepping up to perform this function due to a general failure of the current 
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system to facilitate care for New Yorkers. Managed care plans are ramping 
up their efforts to provide New Yorkers with the information and care they 
need, and the City looks forward to working with plans and providers to 
leverage their infrastructure and strengths. But in the meantime, New 
Yorkers need help, which is why we are launching this initiative as quickly 
as possible. 

Through NYC Support, we will:

•	 Bolster the capacity of our phone-based crisis hotline;

•	 Add the ability to access resources via text messaging and the web;

•	 Significantly expand our services to include providing non-crisis 
connections to behavioral health services; and

No longer will New Yorkers be left alone to navigate what can be a 
confusing system on their journey to mental well-being.

Resource Referral and Appointment Scheduling:

NYC Support commits the City to playing a much more proactive role  
in facilitating access to services and helping people enter care. We will do 
this by:

•	 Providing referrals and help New Yorkers schedule appointments with 
mental health providers based on their needs, insurance status, and 
geography, where possible; 

•	 NYC support will provide proactive follow-up in the form of reminders 
and encouragement in the days before their first scheduled appointment, 
which can markedly reduce no-show rates for service appointments and 
hand-offs;171 

•	 NYC Support will check in with clients via phone, web, or text messaging 
and provide brief counseling sessions as a bridge while they wait for their 
appointment, when necessary; and

•	 NYC Support will work in concert with 311 and feature an online  
service directory.

Crisis/Suicide Counseling:

•	 NYC Support will include a 24/7 hotline that will provide crisis 
intervention, suicide prevention, and resource referral services. High-
risk callers will receive more comprehensive follow-up services;

•	 NYC Support will provide phone-based and text-based crisis counseling;

•	 NYC Support will have the capacity to activate mobile crisis teams citywide;
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In creating and monitoring this system, we will collect new data 
that will provide us with a clearer picture of the challenges New 
Yorker face when it comes to making appointments and getting 
follow-up help, both from the system at large and from specific 
providers and plans. This knowledge will allow the City to provide 
more effective oversight and advocate for needed services.

3) Peer Specialist Training—NEW! (DOHMH)

Peers are a critical component of any plan to address the mental 
health challenges facing New Yorkers. Drawing from both lived 
experience and specialized training, Peer Support Specialists 
have a unique ability to engage people whose needs might not be 
fully recognized and understood by the traditional health care 
workforce.  Research has shown that peer support facilitates 
sustained recovery and can reduce overall treatment costs. 

As of January 2016, New York State is providing coverage for 
peer support services delivered by professionally certified Peer 
Specialists to adults enrolled in Health and Recovery Plans. 
Coverage for these services is expanding to include children 
beginning in January 2017. 

To facilitate the expansion of these pivotal services that is being 
driven by these changes in State payment practices, the City will 
invest in the training of additional peer specialists. This training 
will equip individuals who have lived experience with mental 
illness and substance use to take on workforce positions in the 
health care system and obtain their NYS Peer Specialist 
Certification. The City will graduate 200 peer specialists from 
this program per year beginning in Fiscal Year 2017.

4) CUNY Mental Health Digital Platform—NEW!  
(CUNY, DOHMH)

The City will make high-quality, low-cost mental health services 
and self-care resources available to CUNY students through 
web-based and mobile-supported media. After launching pilot 
efforts at selected campuses and identifying the most effective 
mix of services, CUNY plans to expand these opportunities, 
ultimately reaching the total population of close to 300,000 
degree-enrolled university students. 

As described earlier, one in five CUNY students who responded 
to a survey met criteria for depression; of those students, only 
10% received help from their college counseling or health 
center.172 Bringing evidence-based treatment to students should 

CASE STUDY:  
Mental health apps in action 

Digital mental health apps present new 
opportunities to close treatment gaps by 
bringing self-help programs and other 
assistance directly to the public, both to 
complement in-person care and to otherwise 
engage or promote mental health for 
individuals who are not connected to care.  

•	 Koko is a social network where people 
can post about problems in their life. 
Other users—who receive coaching on 
cognitive therapy through the site—are 
invited to provide helpful insights and 
advice. Apps like this could provide a 
novel means of encouraging participation 
in support groups, which have been 
known for years to reduce feelings of 
isolation, increase practical knowledge, 
and sustain coping efforts.

	 What's My M3 allows users to complete a 
mental health self-assessment and receive 
a baseline assessment of symptoms. Every 
user is also directed to additional support, 
regardless of how he or she scores. 

Regardless of their approach, the best apps 
are the products of collaboration between 
experienced treatment providers and skilled 
web developers.
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increase two- and four-year graduation rates and improve the overall 
health of the CUNY student body. Through a collaboration with CUNY 
School of Public Health and CUNY Health Services, the City will take 
the first steps toward providing access to tested and established web-based 
portals and apps to self-manage mental health. The campaign will begin in 
the 2016-2017 academic year.

5) Veterans Outreach Team Expansion—NEW!  (MOVA)

Nearly one-quarter of veterans in New York City have a probable diagnosis 
of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and/or major depression.173 The 
effects of PTSD on veterans and their families can be profound. PTSD is 
associated with increased risk of suicide, depression, substance use 
disorders, intimate partner violence, unemployment, and persistently low 
quality of life.174  In addition, trauma and PTSD are associated with high 
rates of co-morbidity and disability, including coronary artery disease, 
arthritis, asthma, and gastrointestinal problems.175, 176 

While many services are available to those in need, more than 40% 
percent of veterans in New York City report being unaware of what help is 
available, or uncertain about how to navigate the systems that provide 
assistance. Additionally, 26% were unsure of how to get their questions 
about benefits answered.177 This data suggests a great and immediate need 
to address gaps in information and coordination services for veterans in 
order to improve the efficacy and reach of existing systems of care.  

The NYC Veterans Outreach Team will enhance access to veteran services, 
with an emphasis on prevention and early intervention. The City will 
invest $500,000 to expand the Outreach team to provide additional 
navigation assistance and care coordination to veterans and their families. 
Additionally, for veterans in crisis the City will integrate the VA Suicide 
Hotline into the 311 information system so the public will have immediate 
access to the Veterans Crisis Line phone, chat, and text resources. By 
addressing barriers to obtaining medical, psychological, and social 
services, the City will help promote a community-based and accessible 
system of care for veterans and their families.

6) Veterans Mental Health Holistic Treatment Fund—
NEW! (DOHMH)

As with many other mental health conditions, there is no one-size-fits-all 
treatment for PTSD.  Ideally, veterans will have access to a wide array of 
options, including traditional clinical treatment, holistic skill-based services, 
peer support, and programming that addresses the culture of silence.

New York City’s behavioral health delivery system currently offers an array 
of traditional clinical treatment options for PTSD. However, new research 
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suggests that holistic services can provide lasting relief to veterans who 
choose not to engage in traditional psychotherapy, and also those who 
might need additional support to cope with symptoms such as chronic 
pain, anxiety, or insomnia.178 As a City, we must ensure that the brave men 
and women who put their lives on the line to protect us have access to the 
most innovative and effective tools to alleviate their suffering.

To accomplish this goal, the City will create a Veterans Holistic Treatment 
Fund of $1 million dollars that will provide grants to organizations that 
serve veterans and their families in order to bridge the gap between 
mind-body medicine and traditional clinical care. The grants will allow a 
variety of community-based settings to host evidence-based restorative 
practices.  Data and lessons learned will be used to influence local and 
federal policy for trauma-related services.

7) Investing in NYC’s Mental Health Workforce—NEW! 
(CUNY, DOHMH)

In order to create a mental health system that is culturally competent, 
reaches every community, and reflects our core principles, we must invest in 
reshaping and growing our mental health workforce. That means making 
sure clinicians have what they need to implement a public health approach, 
while also enlarging the entire workforce by providing mental health 
training and financing to support non-clinicians. Through such efforts, 
we will shrink treatment gaps, reduce disparities in treatment access and 
quality, and incorporate public health activities into mental health care. The 
City will convene a process to advance these goals, starting with a workforce 
summit in May 2016 that will join the stakeholders and decision-makers 
who must work together to innovate and expand the mental health 
workforce. They will focus on these four key areas:

•	 Identify and act on strategies that help health and mental health 
professionals, such as psychiatrists, nurses, and social workers 
implement and lead collaborative models and coach and support task-
shifted roles;

1) Implement and lead collaborative models;

2) Coach and support task-shifted roles; 

•	 Diversify the field by creating strategies to attract and recruit a workforce 
that is more ethnically and socio-economically representative; 

•	 Develop standardized workforce data that can be collected and 
analyzed on a regular basis; and

•	 Facilitate the growth and optimized use of task-shifted roles and 
careers, such as community health workers and peer counselors. We 
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want to make sure these roles are being filled in every community. 
This effort will entail building our collective training capacity, creating 
certification protocols, agreeing on core competencies, and improving 
payment structures.

8) Expand Access to Buprenorphine in Primary Care 
Settings—NEW! (DOHMH)

Buprenorphine is a life-saving medication used to treat opioid use disorder 
by stopping cravings and preventing withdrawal symptoms. Buprenorphine 
is available from general physicians in office-based primary care settings. 
Despite its many benefits, the availability of buprenorphine remains low, 
which leaves many individuals who suffer from opioid use disorders without 
the treatment they need. Starting in 2016, we will launch a new and 
ambitious initiative to add 1,000-1,500 new providers trained and authorized 
to prescribe buprenorphine over the next three years. This is in addition to a 
previously announced effort to implement a Nurse Care Manager model, 
adapted from a successful program in Massachusetts, that will increase 
buprenorphine treatment capacity in primary care. 

9) Expand Access to Naloxone (DOHMH)

Naloxone is a medication that reverses overdose from both opioid 
analgesics and heroin. It has been legal in New York State since 2006 for 
laypeople to be trained in recognizing overdose and administering 
naloxone. This simple first-aid activity is proven to reduce overdose 
mortality in communities where sufficient numbers of people are trained. 
Recent new funding will allow DOHMH to provide trained laypeople in 
those neighborhoods with the highest opioid-involved overdose deaths 
with enough naloxone to reach more than 7,000 New Yorkers.

10) NYC Safe (MOCJ, DOHMH, NYPD, DHS)

Most people who suffer from mental illness are not violent. In fact, people 
with mental illness are more likely than the average person to be the 
victims of violence.179 However, those people with mental illness who are 
violent have an outsized impact on the lives of their loved ones, their 
families, and the communities where they live. NYC Safe is an evidence-
driven program designed to support the narrow population of New Yorkers 
with more complicated mental illness who pose a concern for violent 
behavior. NYC Safe changes the way the City intervenes to stop and 
respond to violence that may be committed by those living with mental 
illness by establishing a centralized oversight body that coordinates public 
safety and public health. Now the City can respond more rapidly and 
appropriately to prevent violence, and react more assertively when it 
happens. NYC Safe includes a series of interventions that together create a 
continuum of services and new oversights to help keep people who need 
care, in care. These interventions include seven new mobile teams, 
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increased resources for existing ACT teams, expansion of the City’s ability 
to appropriately use AOT, and new joint NYPD-DOHMH response teams.

11) Reduce Violence and Address Treatment in the City’s 
Jails (DOC) 

The City recently adopted and will continue to implement strategies to 
improve the care and safety of people with behavioral health needs within 
City jails. These strategies will rely on de-escalation and evidence-based 
staffing and programming. They include:

•	 Department of Correction Crisis Intervention Teams that work to 
decrease violence. The Teams are specially trained in de-escalation and 
symptom identification;

•	 Specialized mental health care units where inmates with serious mental 
illness can receive more intensive and frequent mental health care; 

•	 Additional mental health training for 2,600 correction officers.  
This material has been incorporated into the training curriculum for 
new recruits;

•	 Specialized services for adolescents, including trauma-informed care;

•	 Reducing the officer-to-inmate ratio to 1:15 in adolescent units; and

•	 Expansion of substance use disorder treatment.

This initiative is part of the Behavioral Health Task Force action plan.

12) Mental Health Services for All Youth in Runaway and 
Homeless Youth Shelters (DYCD)

For the first time, the City will add funds dedicated to enhancing mental health 
services at Runaway and Homeless Youth Drop-In Centers, Crisis Shelters, and 
Transitional Independent Living programs. In Fiscal Year 2015, residential 
programs served more than 2,200 youth under age 21, nearly 40% of whom 
report as LGBT. Mental health supports will be embedded into programs 
and could include evaluations, counseling, and direct clinical services.

13) Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Plus (ACS) 

ACS is implementing Partnering for Success (PfS) at 18 of their 23 
contracted family foster care agencies. PfS is a framework to improve 
access to and delivery of behavioral health services for children in foster 
care and their families. The initiative promotes stronger collaboration 
between frontline workers in child welfare and mental health clinicians 
who serve foster children. The PfS infrastructure supports greater access 
to and availability of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Plus (CBT+), which is a 
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suite of four evidence-based adaptations of cognitive behavioral therapy 
(CBT): CBT for Anxiety, CBT for Depression, CBT for Behavior Problems, 
and Trauma-Focused CBT.

The initiative includes training 200 mental health clinicians and more than 
1,000 case planners to support the delivery of CBT+ and other behavioral 
health services to children and youth in foster care. The initiative also 
includes ongoing coaching and case consultations. Up to 40% of children 
aged six or older in family foster care will benefit from CBT+.

14) Mental Health and Substance Use Programming for 
All Youth at Rikers Island (DOC, NYC Health + Hospitals)

At Rikers Island, the City will provide psychiatric assessments and after-
school therapeutic arts programming for all youth under 21, and substance 
misuse programming for 16- to 21-year-olds. This initiative is part of the 
Behavioral Health Task Force action plan. Youth who are involved with the 
criminal justice system are vulnerable to a range of negative outcomes, 
including substance misuse, mental illness, and victimization. Arts therapy 
programs in youth detention centers and jails have been shown to reduce 
recidivism, boost academic engagement, and improve self-esteem.180,181,182,183

15) Mental Health Services in All Family Justice Centers 
(OCDV, NYC Health + Hospitals)

The City will expand onsite mental health services at all five of the city’s 
Family Justice Centers, which last year served more than 37,000 domestic 
violence survivors. The staff will provide direct care and also offer mental 
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health promotion support, skill-building opportunities, and mentoring to 
other Family Justice Center staff.  The new program will be able to 
accommodate 1,000 clients per year.

16) Geriatric Mental Health in Senior Centers (DFTA) 

The NYC Department for the Aging (DFTA) will place a Licensed Clinical 
Social Worker or a professional with similar skills in up to 25 of our largest 
senior centers. This initiative will evaluate the efficacy of placing mental 
health services and professionals in senior centers in order to provide 
expert on-site assistance. The mental health professionals, who will also 
serve seniors from nearby centers, will reach a total of approximately 3,750 
people annually. If the initiative is successful, we will consider scaling it to 
other centers.

17) Integrated Brief Intervention for Substance Misuse  
(DOHMH)

Introduce substance use screening, brief intervention, and referral to 
treatment (SBIRT) services in all eight of the City’s sexually transmitted 
disease (STD) clinics. From February 1, 2012 through April 30, 2015, more 
than half of all patients reporting to the City’s STD clinics screened 
positive for substance misuse, which is much higher than the national 
average of 23%. SBIRT has been shown to effectively address both STD 
and risky alcohol use. Patients identified as high risk for substance misuse 
are offered up to 12 extended brief intervention (EBI) sessions with a 
social worker/mental health counselor or a referral to formal substance 
use disorder treatment. 

18) Expand and Enhance Discharge Planning Services 
(DOC, NYC Health + Hospitals)

People who leave our City jails represent a group with high levels of 
mental health and substance use needs. In addition, those who have 
previously been incarcerated have a higher likelihood of being re-arrested 
and re-incarcerated. Connecting people to care will not only improve their 
mental health, but can also help reduce the risk of re-incarceration and 
improve public safety overall. The City will:

•	 Expand Medicaid enrollment application submissions for more 
incarcerated people prior to discharge

•	 Expand existing jail discharge services to serve an additional 8,100 people 
who leave jail, through the Department of Correction’s expanded I-CAN 
program and the Health and Hospital Corporation’s new substance-use 
discharge planning program.

This initiative is part of the Behavioral Health Task Force action plan.
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Roadmap Feedback Group Participants

1199 SEIU

32BJ Funds

Addabbo Family Health Center

Ades Integrated Health Strategies

Administration for Children's Services

Affinity Health Plan

Albert Einstein College of Medicine 

American Express

American Psychiatric Association

American Psychiatric Nurses Association

AmidaCare

Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield

Aon Hewitt 

Apicha Community Health Center

Arab American Association

Beacon Christian Community Health 
Center

Bellevue Hospital Center 

Bellevue/NYU Program for Survivors  
of Torture

Bowery Residents' Committee

Brain & Behavior Research Foundation

BrightPointHealth (Help/PSI)

Bronx Health Link

Bronx Lebanon Hospital

Brooklyn Community Services

Brooklyn Defender Services

Brooklyn Interfaith Advisory Group

Brownsville Multi Service Family  
Health Center

Buddhist Council of New York

CAB 

CAMBA

Catholic Charities Community Services

Catholic Charities Neighborhood 
Services

Catholic Charities of Brooklyn and Queens

Center for Alternatives and Employment 
Services (CASES)

Center for Children’s Initiatives

Center for Community Alternatives

Center for Court Innovation

Center for Economic Opportunity

Center for Human Development and 
Family Services (CHDFS)

Center for Innovation through Data 
Intelligence, Office of the Deputy Mayor 
for Health and Human Services

Center for Urban Community Services

CHC Richmond

Child and Family Institute

Child Center of New York

Children's Aid Society

Children's Arts and Science Workshops

Children's Defense Fund Leave No  
Child Behind

Citizens' Committee for Children

City of New York  Office of  
Labor Relations

CityMD

Coalition for Asian American Children  
& Families

Coalition of Behavioral Health Agencies

Columbia Psychiatry

Columbia University

Columbia University  Mailman School  
of Public Health

Columbia University  Medical Center

Columbia University  School of  
Social Work

Columbia University  Teachers College

Commission on the Public's Health System

Committee on Hispanic Children  
and Family

Common Ground

Community Healthcare Association of 
NYS (CHCANYS)

Community Healthcare Network NYC

Community Service Society of NY

COMPA

Comunilife

Con Edison

Concorde Baptist Church

Coney Island Hospital

Cornell Weill Medical Center

Cornell Weill Medical College

Correctional Association of NY

Council of Family & Child  
Caring Agencies

Covenant House

CUNY Med

CUNY/Creative Arts Team, Inc.

Department for the Aging

Department of Consumer Affairs

Department of Education

Department of Homeless Services

Participation in Mental Hygiene Roadmap feedback session(s) does not imply agreement 
with the findings and recommendations presented in this report.
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Deutsche Bank

Docs for Tots

Department of Health and Mental Hygiene 

DOHMH, Brooklyn District Public 
Health Office

Drug Policy Alliance

Dynamic Transitions Psychological 
Counseling LLP

Education & Assistance Corporation

Elmhurst Hospital Center

Empire Blue Cross Blue Shield

Exponents

Federation of Mental Health Centers

Federation of Protestant Welfare 
Agencies

First Central Baptist Church

Flushing Hospital Medical Center

Fortune Society

Foundation for Child Development

Fountain House

Gay Men's Health Crisis

God's Battalion of Prayer Church

Good Shepherd Services

Gracie Square Hospital

Greater New York Conference of Seventh 
Day Adventists

Greater New York Hospital Association

Group for Advancement of Psychiatry

Harlem Center  Police Athletic League

Harlem Hospital Center

Harlem United

Harm Reduction Coalition

Harris Rothenberg International

Health & Hospitals Corporation

Health & Hospitals Corporation   
Kings County Hospital Center

Health & Hospitals Corporation   
Queens Hospital Center 

Health Care for All New York

Health Plus Amerigroup

Healthfirst
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These facilities are included on the map only when the facility also offers mental 
health or substance use treatment and to specify that it offers comprehensive care.
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From: Amy Le 
Sent: Thursday, November 26, 2015 4:20 PM
To: Schroeder, Rhonda
Subject: Re: Please send questions here    custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org

Question: 
  
1.  Is the jail provide complaint information/process in Spanish and Vietnamese?  
2.  If an inmate/citizen does not speak English how can they file a complaint? 
 
 

On Saturday, November 21, 2015 1:51 PM, "Schroeder, Rhonda" <Rhonda.Schroeder@cob.sccgov.org> wrote: 
 

The appropriate email box is:  custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org  
  
All correspondence should be sent to this email box and then will be distributed on a daily basis to the 
commission.  Items are sent as a BCC to prevent possible Brown Act violations. 
  
Please let me know if you have any questions, 
  
Best regards, 
  
Rhonda Schroeder 
Division Manager, Board Operations  
Office of the Clerk of the 
Board of Supervisors 
408‐299‐5067 
408‐938‐4525 FAX 
NOTICE: This email message and/or its attachments may contain information that is confidential or restricted. It is 
intended only for the individuals named as recipients in the message. If you are NOT an authorized recipient, you 
are prohibited from using, delivering, distributing, printing, copying, or disclosing the message or content to others 
and must delete the message from your computer. If you have received this message in error, please notify the 
sender by return email.  

 Just so you know, no trees were killed in sending this e-mail but many electrons and some silicon were 
inconvenienced in this process! Please help us save the trees and do not print this if avoidable. 
  
  
  
 

  m        m    m  m    V     
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From: Gail Price 
Sent: Saturday, November 28, 2015 4:09 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: Request for reports/information for Blue Ribbon Commission

Information request for Blue Ribbon Commission: I would like to request links to reports conducted by 
consultants or in-house staff regarding Custodial Operations in the last 10 years, including audits completed via 
contract to Harvey Rose.  
We need to be familiar with the status of all of the recommendations in those reports.  
 
Information request:  
A complete list of "Use of Force" incidents and the status of the review and outcome of each incident for the 
last 10 years.  How many of the inmates involved in these incidents had identified or likely mental health 
conditions or challenges?  
 
Same request as directly above but  related to a reporting of deaths in the jails and details about the 
circumstances of each death.  
 
Questions:  
Do the existing and pending RFPs include a comprehensive review of the availability, quality, and results of all 
programs and services for inmates, including behavioral health (substance abuse and mental health and inmates 
with dual diagnoses)?  
 
How will the comments and issues  brought forward by the public and the Jail Reform Coalition via the Human 
Relations Commission, the Behavioral Health Board and the Blue Ribbon Commission be addressed by staff 
and consultants? Timetable?  
 
 
Thank you,  
Gail Price 
Blue Ribbon Commission on Improving Custody Operations 
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From: LaDoris Cordell <
Sent: Sunday, November 29, 2015 7:55 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: URGENT request to the sheriff''s department for the missing pages to the pdf re the 

internal affairs policy 1.19
Attachments: ladoris.vcf

the department's internal affairs policy, policy number 1.19 is missing five pages. there are 11 pages in this section, but 
the pdf emailed to the commission has only the odd numbered pages; please provide the entire document ASAP so that 
we can review the document before the commission's meeting on december 5th. thanks. ‐‐‐ judge cordell 
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From: LaDoris Cordell <
Sent: Sunday, November 29, 2015 8:04 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: URGENT; request for complete inmate grievance policy
Attachments: ladoris.vcf

the inmate grievance policy emailed to us by the department is missing four pages. the pdf contains only the odd‐
numbered pages. the document has 8 pages; the pdf contains just 4. please email to the commission ASAP the entire 
document so that we can review it before our meeting on december 5th. thanks. ‐‐‐ judge cordell 
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From: Christine Clifford 
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 9:50 AM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Cc: Leon, David; Schroeder, Rhonda
Subject: documents sent missing pages?/ questions regarding grievance and IA processes 

Hello, 
Here are my initial questions and some from families of the incarcerated/DeBug/PACT 
  
1.The copies I received of Document 1.19 on IA and Document 14.05 on Inmate Rights are
missing all the even numbered pages. It is difficult to fully formulate questions without the entire
document. Can you please re-send, or send the missing pages? 
  
2. Document 1.19 on IA indicates it was last revised in 2009. Document 14.05  on inmate rights 
indicates it was last revised in 2008. General Order 14.00 regarding complaints by the public  and 
General Order 14.01 regarding IA policy and procedures indicates they were last revised in 2010. 
-When are these due for updates?  
-Who determines the need and who revises policy and procedures? 
-Is any input from the public or detainees included in making revisions? 
  
3. Who is assigned to IA?  
-What is their background, qualifications and training?  
-How many are assigned and how is their work evaluated? 
  
4. How is an allegation or situation determined to be “serious” vs. “non-serious”, vs. “frivolous”.  
-Who makes that determination?  
-Are there guidelines to determine this? 
  
5. Who has access to IA documents. 
-how long are they kept? 
  
6. The 1.19 IA document appears to primarily involve grievances or allegations of excessive force, but
also states investigation of “suspected breach of integrity or case of moral turpitude”. Please give
examples of what that might include. 
  
7. Since detainees and the public are not privy to policies and procedures involving areas such as use 
of force, cell extraction, and classification, how do they determine if these policies and procedures have
been violated?  
-How do they file a grievance or challenge the outcome of a grievance if they are not aware if there has 
been a violation of their rights or of a policy or procedure? 
  
8. The document states that IA will conduct investigations in a timely manner. What are the ranges of
times involved in completing investigations? 
  
9. Are detainees or members of the public who have filed  grievances or complaints that have gone to 
IA made aware of the outcome of the investigation? 
- If not, why? 
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10. What recourse do detainees or members of the public have if they do not agree with the outcome 
of an internal investigation? 
  
11. Are any 3rd party impartial agencies or individuals involved in investigating allegations. 
  
12. Under “Statistical Reports” in document 1.19 it states that the IA unit will provide the Chief of
corrections with an annual report detailing the type and nature of complaints, disposition, and any
clearly established patterns as to teams or facilities generating complaints. 
- Can the Blue Ribbon Commission be supplied with those reports for the past 5 years?   
-Since the administration no doubt takes actions on  areas that  are a concern, how  frequently are 
patterns and data reported prior to this annual report? 
- Does this data include all grievances or only those assigned to IA? 
  
Regarding Inmates Rights/grievances: 
 
13. What accommodations or assistance is given to the mentally ill, disabled. illiterate or non-English 
speaking population to file grievances or understand their right to file?   
 
14. How is data kept regarding the number, nature, and disposition of grievances that are not referred 
to IA? 
- Is this information made available to the facilities commanders on a regular basis to determine if there
are patterns or areas of concern, or does it not go beyond the lowest level it where was deemed
"resolved". 
- How frequently is it reviewed by the Captains/facilities commanders? 
  
15. Is there any process for evaluating which staff deals effectively and promptly with grievances vs.
minimizing them/discouraging them? 
  
16. Some inmates report a lack of response to request forms/grievances or never receiving an answer.
Some report not being given receipts. 
- What is the time line for inmate requests and grievances, and what is their recourse if they do not
receive a reply? 
 
17. How are Grievance Counselors assigned , trained and selected?  
-What criteria do they use to decide if a grievance advances to the next stage or is resolved in the eyes
of those filing? 
 
18. Inmates report that when they file a grievance regarding a particular CO, they  may have to face 
the CO during attempted resolution. This makes many feel intimidated or reluctant to file a grievance
for fear of retaliation or further difficulties. 
- What can be done to alter this practice and/or make inmates more comfortable with voicing concerns 
about treatment in the grievance process..  
  
19. Who has access to inmate grievances? 
- How long are they kept?   
  
20. How can inmates determine if the filing of a grievance regarding their classification or contents of
their file is valid? 
 -Families and inmates often report filing grievances regarding classification and lack of programming.
They report receiving responses  of “you are properly housed” ,  “maintain appropriate behavior” 
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or  “you will not be considered for down classing” with no further explanation.  As was pointed out in 
the Grand Jury findings at Elmwood and in the recent suit brought by the Prison Law Office, inmates
report being denied down classing  despite having no infractions or disciplinary measures, and of being
sent to more restrictive settings without explanation, warning or hearings. 
- Since inmates are not allowed to see their classification files or be told what has been involved in
deciding their classification and housing assignment, how can they determine if any  information 
contained in their files is false, subjective or inaccurate?  
-How can they challenge the content of their file or grieve it’s content if they are not allowed to know
what’s in it?  
  
21. If an inmate has filed a grievance regarding areas such as the lack of opportunity to down class 
and lack of programs, has grieved the response and filed appeals with no resulting change of status,
what recourse do they have after having exhausted all their administrative options? 
  
22. After exhausting all administrative options regarding programming and conditions of confinement,
what recourse do inmates have regarding requests to improve the conditions of their confinement or
increase programming options?   
-Inmates and families report filing grievances regarding lack of programming or being contained in their
cells for excessive periods of time, some for years while awaiting court processes.  
-Programs are limited to many due to their classification and housing assignment. Access to equipment
outdoors or activities inside are very limited and many inmates in MJN and MJS with access primarily
to one program called “Road maps to Recovery”. This was also reported in Grand Jury findings to be
the case for women at Elmwood who are in higher level  security classifications.  
- As per the recent suit from the Prison Law Office, too many detainees are confined to their cells in
excess of 22 hours per day with no programs. 
- How are grievances and concerns regarding lack of programming and hours confined to cells being 
addressed?   
  
   
 -Regarding families/friends of the incarcerated: 
 
23. What measures are taken to insure that the public knows how to file complaints and grievances? 
-Currently there is information posted for people going up in elevators for visits in MJN, with no way of 
copying it down since they are not allowed to take writing instruments to visits. 
- It is not posted in MJS, where the worst living conditions exist. 
- Is it posted at Elmwood?  
- What can DOC do to provide easy, visible ways for the public to take information regarding how to file 
grievances or complaints in the facilities? (fliers or business sized cards in multiple languages at the
visiting desks or in the visiting areas of all facilities? Posted on the DOC website regarding the jails)? 
 
24. The Jail Observer Program, which takes calls from inmates and the public regarding jail
concerns/grievances is currently funded for 14 hours a week. Given the importance of receiving and
responding to concerns in a timely manner, how can this position be increased?   
 
Thank you, 
Christine Clifford 
Silicon Valley DeBug 
PACT 
Family representative 
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On Nov 30, 2015, at 2:15 PM, CustodyOpCommission <CustodyOpCommission@cob.sccgov.org> wrote: 

Who is the best person to respond to this request for information? 
  
Rhonda 
(408) 299‐5067 
  

 
  
From: Gail Price    
Sent: Saturday, November 28, 2015 4:09 PM 
To: CustodyOpCommission <CustodyOpCommission@cob.sccgov.org> 
Subject: Request for reports/information for Blue Ribbon Commission 
  
Information request for Blue Ribbon Commission: I would like to request links to reports 
conducted by consultants or in-house staff regarding Custodial Operations in the last 10 years, 
including audits completed via contract to Harvey Rose.  
We need to be familiar with the status of all of the recommendations in those reports.  
  
Information request:  
A complete list of "Use of Force" incidents and the status of the review and outcome of each 
incident for the last 10 years.  How many of the inmates involved in these incidents had 
identified or likely mental health conditions or challenges?  
  
Same request as directly above but  related to a reporting of deaths in the jails and details about 
the circumstances of each death.  
  
Questions:  
Do the existing and pending RFPs include a comprehensive review of the availability, quality, 
and results of all programs and services for inmates, including behavioral health (substance 
abuse and mental health and inmates with dual diagnoses)?  
  
How will the comments and issues  brought forward by the public and the Jail Reform Coalition 
via the Human Relations Commission, the Behavioral Health Board and the Blue Ribbon 
Commission be addressed by staff and consultants? Timetable?  
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Thank you,  
Gail Price 
Blue Ribbon Commission on Improving Custody Operations 
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From: CustodyOpCommission
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 11:06 AM
To: Martha Wapenski; CustodyOpCommission
Cc: John Hirokawa; LaDoris Cordell (
Subject: RE: Please send questions here    custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org 

Expires: Saturday, May 28, 2016 12:00 AM

It appears the Internal Affairs Policy and the Inmate Grievance Policy are both missing pages. Can you please forward 
the entire documents as I have several commissioners asking. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Rhonda 
(408) 299‐5067 
 

 
 

From: Martha Wapenski [mailto:Martha.Wapenski@sheriff.sccgov.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, November 24, 2015 3:25 PM 
To: CustodyOpCommission <CustodyOpCommission@cob.sccgov.org> 
Cc: Schroeder, Rhonda <Rhonda.Schroeder@cob.sccgov.org>; John Hirokawa <John.Hirokawa@sheriff.sccgov.org> 
Subject: RE: Please send questions here custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org  
 
Rhonda, 
Attached are copies of the internal affairs, complaint process, and inmate grievance policies requested by Judge Cordell 
for the Blue Ribbon Commission.  
 
 
Martha Wapenski 
Director of Administrative Services 
Office of the Sheriff 
County of Santa Clara 
55 West Younger Avenue 
San Jose, CA 95110 
(408) 808‐4913 
 
 
 

From: CustodyOpCommission [mailto:CustodyOpCommission@cob.sccgov.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, November 24, 2015 3:00 PM 
To: Martha Wapenski 
Subject: FW: Please send questions here custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org  
 
Do you have a copy of the DOC grievance procedures that we would be able to send to the Blue Ribbon Commission? 
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Rhonda 
(408) 299‐5067 
 

 
 

From: Christine Clifford    
Sent: Tuesday, November 24, 2015 8:03 AM 
To: Schroeder, Rhonda <Rhonda.Schroeder@cob.sccgov.org> 
Subject: RE: Please send questions here custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org  
 
Hello again Rhonda, 
I’m afraid I missed something here along the way. Is there a specific site to check into for information and postings? I 
have only received a few from you and a few other people in your office. I believe we were supposed to receive a copy 
of the grievance procedures the DOC uses so we could send in questions to a site/Judge Cordell prior to the next 
meeting? It’s difficult to formulate questions when you don’t know the particulars of the written procedure. Can you let 
me know if there is a site I am supposed to be checking and/or when we might expect to receive these procedures? 
Thank you, 
Christine Clifford 
 
 

From: Schroeder, Rhonda [mailto:Rhonda.Schroeder@cob.sccgov.org]  
Sent: Saturday, November 21, 2015 1:51 PM 
To: CustodyOpCommission <CustodyOpCommission@cob.sccgov.org> 
Cc: Doyle, Megan <Megan.Doyle@cob.sccgov.org> 
Subject: Please send questions here custodyopcommission@cob.sccgov.org  
 
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
 
NOTICE: This email message and/or its attachments may contain information that is confidential or restricted. It is intended only 
for the individuals named as recipients in the message. If you are NOT an authorized recipient, you are prohibited from using, 
delivering, distributing, printing, copying, or disclosing the message or content to others and must delete the message from your 
computer. If you have received this message in error, please notify the sender by return email.  

 Just so you know, no trees were killed in sending this e‐mail but many electrons and some silicon were 

inconvenienced in this process! Please help us save the trees and do not print this if avoidable. 
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From: Fletcher Dobbs <Fletcher.Dobbs@sheriff.sccgov.org>
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 11:45 AM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Cc: Martha Wapenski
Subject: Re-Send of DOC Policies
Attachments: 2015-11-24 - Policy on IM Grievances provided to COB for Blue Ribbon 

Commission.pdf; 2015-11-24 - Policy on Internal Affairs Unit provided to COB for blue 
Ribbon Commission.pdf

Hello, 
 
PDF copies of the attached policies that were supplied earlier were inadvertently supplied with pages 
missing.  The attached copies include the complete policies, including all pages.    Please accept our 
apologies. 
 
 
Fletcher Dobbs 
Office of the Sheriff, Administration 
County of Santa Clara  
55 West Younger Ave, 4th Floor 
San Jose, CA 95110 
Office: 408‐808‐4912 
fletcher.dobbs@sheriff.sccgov.org 
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From: LaDoris Cordell <
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 3:43 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: questions from Judge Cordell for BR Commisson's study session re the complaint 

process
Attachments: ladoris.vcf

The following questions pertain only to those Department employees involved in the operation of the jails (and not to 
Department employees who are patrol officers). /Note: I may propose additional questions when the Commissioners are 
provided all of the pages to policies 1.19 and 14.05. / 
 
 
1. What is the difference between a "grievance" and a "complaint"?  
Please identify the source/rule/policy for your response. 
    a. Why were both terms listed on the use of force data for 2015, but not for prior years, when only "complaint" was 
listed? 
    b. Are there separate procedures for handling grievances and complaints? If so, what are they? Please provide 
documentation, if any, for these procedures. 
 
2. Does the Department maintain (1) records of complaints from the public and (2) records of department‐initiated 
complaints? If so, how and where are each maintained? 
 
3. The following questions pertain to department‐initiated (DII) complaints for those employees who work in the jails: 
    a. How many DII's complaints were received by the department in 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015? 
    b. How were the allegations in those complaints classified in each of those years (force, courtesy, neglect of duty, 
etc.)? 
    c. How many DII complaints were investigated in any manner by Internal Affairs in each of those years? 
    d. How many DII complaints were closed without formal investigations by IA in each of those years? 
    e. Why were there no formal investigations and who made those decisions? 
    f. What were the findings for each of the DII allegations investigated by IA in each of those years? 
    g. Did any of the DII complaints concern alleged use of force on inmates? If so, how many complaints of this type were 
there for each of those years? 
 
4. The following questions pertain to complaints from the public (including inmates): 
    a. How many public‐generated complaints were received in 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015? 
    b. How many of those complaints were filed by inmates in each of those years? 
    c. What were the classifications of allegations in those complaints in each of those years? 
    d. How many complaints were closed without formal investigations by IA in each of those years? 
    e. What were the findings for each of the allegations investigated by IA in each of those years? 
    f. How many of the complainant‐inmates were classified as mentally ill? 
    g. How many of the non‐inmate complainants were family members of mentally ill inmates? 
 
5. When an inmate files a complaint the correctional deputy who is the subject of the complaint notified of the name of 
the inmate‐complainant?  
If so, when, how and why? If there is a written procedure for this notification, please provide it. 
 
6. Have there been any instances in which inmates have complained of retaliation for complaining about correctional 
deputies? If so, how were the retaliation complaints handled and by whom? 
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7. Did any IA investigations into complaints from members of the public exceed one year (from the time the complaints 
were received)? If so, how many exceeded one year in each of the years 2010‐2015? 
 
8.  Does Internal Affairs prepare annual written reports to the Sheriff about the complaints/grievances with respect to 
the operation of the jails? Do the reports contain information about DII's? Please provide all such reports for 2010 
through 2015. 
 
9. In what manner does Internal Affairs "report to the . . . community"  
pursuant to General Order #14.01, section A(3) (i)? 
 
10.  Please provide the  Department's Duty Manual aka Patrol Operations Manual's definitions for the following 
classifications of misconduct 
allegations:  use of force, courtesy, bias‐based policing, neglect of duty, procedure, arrest/detention, search/seizure, and 
conduct unbecoming an officer. 
 
11. What is the Department's use of force policy? Please provide a copy of this policy. 
 
12. Is training provided to correctional deputies about the complaint process and/or the grievance process? If so, what is 
the training, who gives the training, and when is the training given? 
 
13. Are all inmates informed about the complaint process? If so, how, by whom, and when? 
 
14. Are inmates housed on the 8th floor, Unit A informed about the complaint process? If so, how, by whom and when?
 
15. Describe the process used to "informally resolve" an inmate grievance (pursuant to Policy 14.05, Section II. A)? 
 
16. For each year (2010‐2015), how many inmate grievances were informally resolved? 
 
17. What are the qualifications of the Grievance Coordinator? Who selects her/him? For how long does the Grievance 
Coordinator serve? 
 
18. How many confidential letters have been submitted by inmates pursuant to Policy 14.05, Section VII for each of the 
years from 2010‐2015? 
    a. Who receives these letters? 
    b. Is there a follow‐up procedure to ensure that all such letters have been addressed? If so, describe that process? 
 
19. How does the Department define complaints "of a serious nature" in Policy 1.19, Section III (B) (1)? What criteria is 
used to make this determination? 
 
20. How does the Department define complaints "of a minor nature" in Policy 1.19, Section III (A)? What criteria is used 
to make this determination? 
 
21. In your opinion, could the Department benefit from independent civilian oversight of the complaint process? Why or 
why not? 
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From: Gail Price 
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 4:21 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: Information for Blue Ribbon Commission - Information to share
Attachments: CSWJailReport2015.Final.pdf

Thought this report would be of interest to my Blue Ribbon Commission colleagues and the public.  
Thank you,  
Gail Price 
 
 
 



















Issues of Equity: 
Classification & Programming
The women at Elmwood are divided into different security 
levels, ranging from minimum, medium, to maximum 
security and Protective Custody. Program accessibility 
ranges and is based on the security level the Classification 
Department assigns to each inmate. Their classification 
system has never been validated by gender and is a com-
plex analysis including two key factors: the crime commit-
ted and behavior while at Elmwood. Much analysis shows 
that programming has better recidivism outcomes when 
applied to higher risk and higher security inmates yet 
minimum security women have more accessibility to 
programs compared to medium security women. 
Maximum security women are allowed only one (1) hour 
of recreational time every other day and it is common 
for the women to refer to this time as “programming”. 
Monitors learned that “programming” does not necessar-
ily mean to engage in an actual rehabilitation program; 
rather, it can mean a variety of activities allowed to an 
inmate such as a shower, a phone call, or spending time 
out of her jail cell.

Protective Custody women have access to two programs: 
Roadmap to Recovery, a self-led journaling program and 
occasional classes offered by the Chaplain. One highly 
regarded program is the PACT program, which includes 
an extended contact visit between parent and child. 
Unfortunately, PACT is not available to women in Protec-
tive Custody. This was interesting to learn, especially since 
research shows that approximately 78% of incarcerated 
women are the primary custodial parent.

A recurring theme heard from the women at Elmwood 
was the need for programs specifically tailored to their 
needs. Just as important was the need to provide programs 
that are aligned to their sentencing. During one visit mon-
itors spoke with a woman in minimum security who was 
serving a two-year sentence and preparing to reunify with 
her daughter. She indicated that she had gone through the 
same Re-Entry Correction Program three times. Rather 
than spend her time watching TV or sleeping, she opted to 
go through the same program multiple times.

Aside from a lack of programs that are conducive to their 
needs, many women explained that they also do not have 
a clear exit plan once they are released from jail. This is 
a critical area that must be addressed. For example, it is 
especially important that a victim of domestic violence 
receive a proper exit plan, including safety planning and 
clear steps to move to greater self-sufficiency. Without 
this, women may have little choice but to return to an 
abusive situation. Effective support can better ensure the 
wellbeing of the inmate, her family, and of the community 
as a whole.

As the pilot efforts for programs led by OWP and CSW 
have demonstrated, providing programs and services with 
a gender-responsive framework provides the foundation 
for a new model that takes into account the realities of 
women, creating programs that do support their realities 
and better prepare women for life on the outside.

According to the 2012 Recidivism Study of the Santa Clara 
County Department of Corrections by Husky & Associ-
ates, there is a sense of urgency for the County to invest in 
inmate programs that reduce recidivism to make the com-
munity a safer place to live and work. The report further 
highlights that individuals who participated in treatment 
were significantly less likely to be rearrested or reconvict-
ed at 6, 12, and 24 months compared to similar individuals 
who did not participate in treatment. Therefore, as the 
investment in programs is developed and implemented it 
is imperative that a gender-responsive framework is used.

“I want to get my GED but we cannot in 
here (protective custody). We do not have 

NA or AA or anything. I have been here for 
2 years already. I should be taking college 

classes and I cannot even get my GED.”
-Inmates to Monitors 

during Monthly Monitor Visits

Issues of Equity: 
An Aging Facility
The women’s facility was established in 1964 and dur-
ing observation tours the monitors take into account 
the state of the facility, ensuring that it is clean and well 
maintained. For the most part, the facility is kept fairly 
clean. There have been instances where certain cells in 
the medium and high security area need extra attention. 
Issues that monitors bring to the attention of the Lieuten-
ant following tours are quickly addressed and monitors 
are able to see results at their next visit. In addition to the 
maintenance of the facility, monitors also check if resourc-
es for crisis and community services, including grievance 
procedures, are visibly displayed and accessible to the 
women. Monitors have seen some posters during visits, 
but this is an area that can be improved.

The facility was never designed to accommodate the 
populations it now must house. The before-mentioned 
examples (page 6) demonstrate how facility inequities 
manifest themselves in stark differences for the men and 
women: sustainability projects that look like candlestick v. 
a flagpole; exercise equipment that is new or old; voca-
tional training in a training warehouse or an embroidery 
class in a refurbished dining hall. Still another example 
of inequity is the library system. For men this includes a 
well-stocked, open-spaced library with daily hours of 
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Monitoring Components: 
Interaction with Women who 
are Incarcerated
Tours provide the opportunity to speak to the women 
from all security levels, to better understand their experi-
ences, what is working well and what can be improved. 
Several issues have emerged from these conversations:

• Access to Medical Care - The women explained that 
it takes approximately 30 days to see a doctor once they 
submit their medical request (aka white card). For women 
who have commissary money, each new request costs $3, 
for those who do not have commissary money the visit is 
free of charge. They have also stated that they wish there 
was a better process to address urgent medical needs. 
Based on feedback from the women, there is no clear poli-
cy or structure set in place to receive urgent medical care. 
Monitors are also concerned that there was a charge for a 
service that inmates are legally guaranteed and support the 
policy change that eliminated this fee as of July 1, 2015.

• Timely Meals - A typical day for the women at Elm-
wood begins at 4:30AM with breakfast. While they are 
required to throw away any leftover food it is not uncom-
mon for women to hold on to food to snack on until lunch 
is served at 10:30AM. The same practice is applied to 
lunch when they will hold on to leftover food until dinner 
is served at 4:30PM. Some explained that there is a large 
gap between meals. If they have commissary money they 
are able to purchase snacks, but if they do not have any 
funds, they must wait until the next meal is served and for 
many, especially expectant mothers, the time gap between 
meals is significant. As discussed in the Program Section, 
depending on the security level, some women have the 
option to a few programs. If no programming is available 
they spend the majority of their time in their cells.
 
• Basic Hygiene - Self-care for women is very impor-
tant and during visits monitors have observed women 
doing their hair, make-up, and trying to maintain their 
hygiene. Many women have explained that even though 
they understand that they are incarcerated they still like to 
take pride in themselves. Clean uniforms and undergar-
ments are very important to them. An area of concern 
was centered on the timing of the distribution of the 
clean uniforms. Policy is that women receive seven (7) 
pairs of undergarments, three (3) bras, and two (2) outer 
garments. Women receive uniforms twice a week, there-
fore if a woman is placed at Elmwood on a Thursday, she 
might not have clean undergarments until the next round, 
which takes anywhere from 3-5 days. Women reported 
that in those situations they depended on their cellmates 
for clean undergarments. One major barrier to address-

ing the clothing needs of the women is that residential 
grade washers and dryers were used. DOC replaced these 
machines in the FY16 budget with industrial grade wash-
ers and dryers and it is believed that this will eliminate any 
delay that could periodically happen in the past.
 

Monitoring Components: 
Observations
The Jail Monitors have toured the Elmwood Facility, Main 
County Jail, and the Re-Entry Center. To date, monitors 
have conducted four visits to Elmwood and have recur-
ring monthly monitoring sessions scheduled every third 
Friday of the month. Monitors have had the opportunity 
to take an in-depth look at the facility, talk to the women 
first hand, and learn more about the different institutional 
systems and processes.

Monitoring Components: 
Focus Groups
Two focus groups were conducted, one in custody and 
one post custody. Participants provided verbal responses 
to the questions posed by the Jail Monitors. Key themes, 
needs and opportunities emerged and are highlighted.

Housing:
• Housing was voiced as the top priority and concern—
specifically, finding housing, affordable housing and 
housing for families with children.

• Transition Housing Units (THU): There is a waitlist for 
these housing services, which are described as becoming 
like more of a “new-age shelter.”

• Focus Group participants shared how important it is for 
women who are getting ready to reenter to understand the 
intricacies, challenges and expectations they will encoun-
ter. Rather than just looking forward to their release, it is 
best for reentering women to be informed and provided 
with concrete facts along every step of the reentry process.

Recovery:
• Support in Recovery from alcohol and substance abuse 
was voiced as the second greatest need.

Access to Services/Programs:
• While at Elmwood, women learn about available services 
through word of mouth, which was described as the best 
way to disseminate information regarding programs.

• There are no clear systems in place for communicating 
service options to female inmates.
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From: Dale Weatherspoon 
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 4:41 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: Questions for the commission
Attachments: BRC questions.pdf

My questions are attached is a document. 
Thank you! 
Rev. Dr. Dale M. Weatherspoon 
 



To	the	Blue	Ribbon	Commission:	
	
I	have	two	questions,	each	with	sub-questions	to	which	I	would	like	answers.	At	our	
first	two	meetings	the	concern	of	redundancy	was	voiced.	Is	the	establishment	of	
this	commission	a	redundant	act?	These	questions	go	to	the	matter	of	transparency	
and	accountability.	I	believe	having	this	information	would	be	helpful	to	the	
commission	and	to	the	public.		
	
At	our	November	21	commission	meeting	we	defined	the	scope	of	our	work.	It	is	
possible	other	studies	have	reported	findings	we	will	uncover	in	the	scope	of	our	
work.	Having	answers	to	the	questions	below,	I	believe	will	help	the	commission	be	
more	focused	and	ensure	implementation	of	our	findings.		
	

1. What	studies	of	the	Santa	Clara	County	jails	have	been	
commissioned/contracted	by	Santa	Clara	County	since	2000?	Who	or	what	
companies	were	contracted?	What	was	the	focus	of	the	studies?	What	was	
the	cost	of	each	of	these	studies?	

	
2. What	were	the	recommendations	from	each	of	the	studies	commissioned	

above?	Which	of	the	recommendations	have	been	implemented?	What	was	
the	cost	to	implement	each	recommendation?	What	has	been	the	
effectiveness	of	the	recommendations	implemented?	For	those	
recommendations	not	implemented,	why	have	they	not	been	implemented?	

	
Sincerely,	
Rev.	Dr.	Dale	M.	Weatherspoon	–	BRC	member	
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From: Gail Price 
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 4:58 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: Complaint Process Questions for Dec. 5 meeting.

Hi, These are my questions for the Complaint Process discussion for Dec. 5. 
 
1. Is there a written inmate grievance process in place and how are all inmates made aware of procedures for 
filing grievances? Are there alternatives to written grievances if language is an issue? 
 
2. Same question above applied to friends and family members of inmates.  
 
3. What are the specific guidelines for filing, investigations, response and documentation of all grievances? In 
what format are these issues reported out on quarterly or annual basis?  
 
4. If employees want to report behaviors, incidents, and actions of colleagues that impact the physical and 
mental well-being of inmates how is that done? 
Results of this type of reporting?  
 
5. What were the internal or external inspection reports related to complaints/grievances in the last five years 
and what corrective actions have taken place related to deficiencies identified?  
 
 
Thank you.  
Gail Price 
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From: LaDoris Cordell <
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2015 6:12 PM
To: CustodyOpCommission
Subject: additional questions from judge cordell re BR commission study session on complaint 

process
Attachments: ladoris.vcf

21. Please provide a copy of the Inmate Rule Book referred to in Policy 14.05, section I (E). 
 
22. Please provide the grievance statistics reports for each year 
(2010‐2015) prepared by the Division Commander/designee pursurant to Policy 14.05, section C. 
 
23. Policy 14.05, section I (F) states that "Inmates may appeal and have resolved grievances relating to any conditions of 
confinement, including but not limited to: 
    1. medical care 
    2. classification actons 
    3. discipinary actions 
    4. program participation 
    5. telephone, mail and visiting policy and procedures 
    6. food 
    7. clothing 
    8. bedding. 
Is an inmate's complaint of excessive force or other misconduct against a correctional deputy appropriate subject matter 
for a grievance? 
 
24. When inmates complain about mental health staff or medical staff, to whom are the complaints referred? 
            a. What is the procedure that inmates must follow to lodge these complaints? 
            b. What process is utilized for investigating these complaints? 
            c. Does the Department or other county agency track these complaints? If so, where are the records maintained?
            d. How many inmate complaints have been lodged against mental health staff in each of the years (2010‐2015)? 
            e. How many inmate complaints have been lodged against medical staff in each of the years (2010‐2015)? 
 
 




